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herein the Court GRANTS IN PARGndDENIES IN PART Defendant’s motion to dismiskhe
case management conference scheduled for July 26, 2012, remains as set.
I BACKGROUND
A. Factual Background

Plaintiffs owned and operated a dealership specializing in recreationalegeiRVs”)
called “RV’s d Merritt” in Scotts Valley, California.ECF No. 36, Third Am. Compl. (“TAC”)
7. Plaintiffs purchased from Defendant a Garage Liability insurance gtieyGL policy”). Id.
18. Plaintiffs paid an annual premium payment of $22,136 for the GLypatic 1 45.

The GL policy’s “declarations page” “prominently” advertised $1,000,000 in “single
occurence coverage” and $2,000,080'aggregate coveragefd. §10. However, the policy was
also accompanied by an addendum entitled “GARAGE POLICY EX3IEN
ENDORSEMENT” (the “endorsement”)d. 13. On the tenth page of the endorsement, there
was a provision entitled “LIMIT OF INSURANCE,” which stated that coverfoy each “suit” or
claim for “product related damage” was limited to $25,000 (the “cap provisitea"J} 15.

On August 31, 20Q7Plaintiffs were sued in state court over conduct related to the sale (
an RV (the “state court action”5eeECF No. 37-1, 2d Request for Judicial Notice (“2d RIN") E
A.! Defendant undertook at least some aspects of Plaintiffs’ defense. In June 2007, Defend:z
rejected a settlement offer of $110,000. 136. The case eventually went to trial, “the stress frg
which landed [Plaintiff] Mr. Merritt in the hospital fordays [sic].” Id. §24. As a result,
“Plaintiff Peggy [Mrs. Merritt] was forced to handle both the litigation armhinigband’s
hospitalization, which caused her extreme emotional distress as Well.”

On September 2, 2009, the jury returned a special verdict holding Plaintiffs dable f
intentional misrepresentation, concealment, negligent misrepresentation,ulipieaefice in the
sale of consumer goods, and breaches of contract and the implied covenant of good faith and

dealing. SeeECF No. 27-1, Request for Judicial Not{tRJIN"), Ex. A (Certified Copy of Special

! Courts routinely take judicial notice of court records, and thus the Court takealjudibteof
the First Amended Complaint filed in the state court acti®ee United States v. BlaelB2 F.3d
1035, 1041 (9th Cir. 2007Iee v. City of L.A.250 F.3d 668, 688-89 (9th Cir. 2001); Fed. R. Civ.
201(b).
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Verdict Form,Agardv. Wayne Merritt Motor CoSanta Cruz County Superior Court Case No. C
157820)? The parties the settled their dispute for $177,000, of which approximately $77,000
attributable to attorneg’fees. TAC126-28 & Ex. 11. Defendant ingenified Plaintiffsfor the
entire attorney’s fees awardd. § 36. However, claiming that the cap provision limited any
further liability, Defendant indemnified Plaintiffs for only $25,000 of the remaining $100,000
owed under the settlement. 129. In order to pay the remaining $75,000, Plaintiffs had to obt
a loan and place a deed of trust on their propddyy 44.
B. Procedural History

On February 14, 2011, Plaintiffs commenced an action agagfieh@ant in the Superior
Court of the County of Santa Cru3eeECF No. 1 (Notice of Removal) § 2 & Ex. 1. Before
serving Defendant, Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Complaint (“FAG'State court on March 3,
2011. 1d. Ex. 2. After being served on March 16, 2011, Defendant timely removed the action
April 11, 2011, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441, asserting diversity jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C.
1332(a). See id{ 1 3, 6.

Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”), the first in federattcon May
16, 2011 alleging causes of action for: (1) breach of contr@tbreach of the implied covenanit
good faith and fair dealing3) negligence; (4) unfair business practices; (5) intentional infliction
emotional distress; (6) interferemnwith a protected property interest; (7) fraud; (8) reformation;
and (9) violations of Cal. Ins. Code 8§ 785eeECF No. 17. Plaintiffs sought general, special ang
punitive damages, attorney’s fees, reformation and injunctive rétiefDefendant fied a motion
to dismiss all nine causes of action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 1ZHK)FGINO.
18. The Court denied the motion as to the breach of contract claim; granted the motion with

prejudice as to the claims for negligence and interference with a protectedyioferest; and

% The Court previously took judicial notice thie certified copy of the special verdict form in the
state court actionSeeECFNo. 34 at 2 n.1.

% The original state court complaint and FAC also named American InternaBiomap, Inc.

(“AIG”) as a defendantSeeECF No. 1, Exs. 1 & 2. Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed AIG from th
state court action on March 31, 2019eeECF No. 11 4 & Ex. 4. The sole noboe defendant
named in both the Second Amended Complaint and the Third Amended Complaint is New

Hampshire Insurance Co.
3
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granted the motion as to the remaining causes of action with leave to aBesCF No. 34
(“Order”) at 21.

Plaintiffs filed a Third Amended Complaint (“TAG"at issue herean November 9, 2011.
ECF Na 36 (“TAC"). Plaintiffs’ TAC asserts claims for: (1) breach of contract; (2abh of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (3) unfair business practicesdation of
California Business & Professions Code 8§ 17200 (“Unfair Competii@ovi’ or “UCL"); (4)
intentional infliction of emotional distress; (5) fraud; (6) reformation; and @iaton of
California Insurance Code 8§ 785. TAC {1 66-134. Defendant again moved to dismisso.ECF
37 (“Mot.”). Plaintiffs filed an opposition, to which Defendant repli€&keECF Nos. 38
(“Opp’'n”), 39 (“Reply”).

. LEGAL STANDARDS
A. Motion to Dismiss Under Rule 12(b)(6)

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), a defendant may move to dismis
action for failure to allege “enough factsstate a claim to relief that is plausible on its fadg€ll
Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). “A claim has facial plausibility when the
plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonédrienice that the
defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged. The plausibility standard is not akin to a
‘probability requirement,’” but it asks for more than a sheer possibility that addefehas acted
unlawfully.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (interreaations omitted). In ruling on
a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the Court generally may look only at the face of the aurapti
documents attached to or referenced in the compl&8ie¢. Coto Settlement v. Eisenh&@@ F.3d
1031, 1038 (9th Cir. 2010)ee 250 F.3cat 688-89; Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(c). The®t “accept[s]
factual allegations in the complaint as true and construe[s] the pleadingsigitimedst favorable
to the non-moving party.’Manzarek v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. €619 F.3d 1025, 1031 (9th
Cir. 2008).

Nonetheless, the Court need not accept as true allegations contradicteaibihjudi
noticeable facts, and the “[C]ourt may look beyond the plaintiff’s complaint tteraatf public

record” without converting the Rule 12(b)(6) motion into one for summary judgrisérw v.
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Hahn 56 F.3d 1128, 1129 n.1 (9th Circgrt. denied516 U.S. 964 (1995%ee Van Buskirk v.
Cable News Network, In284 F.3d 977, 980 (9th Cir. 200&¢hwarz v. United State334 F.3d
428, 435 (9th Cir. 2000). Nor is the Court required to “assume the truth of legal conclusions
merely because they are cast in the form of factual allegatioRayér v. Vaughn649 F.3d 1061,
1064 (9th Cir. 2011) (quoting/. Mining Council v. Wat643 F.2d 618, 624 (9th Cir. 1981)).
Mere “conclusory allegations of law and unwarranted inferences are amsniffio defeat a motion
to dismiss.” Adams v. Johnso355 F.3d 1179, 1183 (9th Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks a
citations omitted)accord Igba) 556 U.S. at 678.
B. Leaveto Amend

Under Rule 15(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, leave to amend “shaklye f
given when justice so requires,” bearing in mind “the underlying purpose of Rule Tiitatéa
decisions on the merits, rather than ongleadings or technicalities.Lopez v. Smiti203 F.3d
1122, 1127 (9th Cir. 2000) (en banc) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted).
Nonethelessa court “may exercise its discretion to deny leave to amend due to ‘undue ddlay,
faith or dilatory motive on part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficidncaaendments
previously allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party. . ., [and] futility of amendment.’
Carvalho v. Equifax Info. Servs., LL629 F.3d 876, 892-93 (9th Cir. 2010) (quotiggman v.
Davis 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962)) (alterations in origina[MVfhere the plaintiff has previously
been granted leave to amend and has subsequently failed to add the requisiterpatbciga
claims, ‘[t]he district court’s digetion to deny leave to amend is particularly broad.licco
Partners, LLC v. Digimarc Corp552 F.3d 981, 1007 (9th Cir. 2009) (quotinge ReacRite
Corp, 335 F.3d 843, 845 (9th Cir. 2003)). Indeed, repeated failure to cure a complaint’s
deficiences by previous amendment is reason enough to deny leave to afdagphinn v.
AMVAC Chem. Corp545 F.3d 733, 742 (9th Cir. 2008) (citiRgman 371 U.S. at 182Allen v.
City of Beverly Hills 911 F.2d 367, 373 (9th Cir. 1990)).

1. DISCUSSION
In moving todismiss all of Plaintiff's claims, Defendant argues that: (1) Plaintiffs’ claimg

are barred by California Insurance Code § 533; (2) each of Plaintiffs’ sevess cdwation is
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insufficiently pled; (3) Peggy Merritt’s claims are not legally cognizabtabge she is not a
named insured under the Products Related Damages Coverage of the Endorsement; and (4)
Plaintiffs’ claim for punitive damages is insufficiently ple@ihe Court addresses each of
Defendant’s arguments in turn.
A. Dismissal under California lnsurance Code 8§ 533

DefendantontendghatCalifornia Insurance Code 8 533 bars Plaintiffs from recovering
for any of their claims because a jury in the underlying state court actiod Rlaintiff Wayne
Merritt Motor Co.liable forthewillful torts of intentional mérepresentation and concealmént.
California Insurance Code 8§ 533 provides that “[apuner is not liable for a &3 caused by the
wilful act of the insured.” “The public policy underlying section 533 is to discouradalwalits.”
J.C. Penney Cas. Ins. Co. v. M,K2 Cal. 3d 1009, 1021 (1991) (citimgmerlin v. Canadian
Indem. Ca.61 Cal. 2d 638, 648 (1964)Under California law, “section 533 is a part of every
insurance contract and is equivalent to an exclusionary clausedarttract itself.” Allstate Ins.
Co. v. Gilbert 852 F.2d 449, 451 (9th Cir. 1988) (citations omitted). Because 8 533 is conside
under California law to be an exclusionary clause, “the insurer has the burden of phavithe
requested claims are nes uninsurable under the lawUnified W. Grocers, Inc. v. Twin City
Fire Ins. Co, 457 F.3d 1106, 1111 (9th Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks and citation omittg

Defendant asserts that Plaintiffs are barred from making their claims bebayay in the
underlying state court action found Wayne Merritt Motor Co. liable for intentional
misrepresentation, concealment/suppression of fact, negligent misregtieseninlawful practice
in the sale of consumer goods in violation of California Civil Code 88 &7%6q. breach of
contract, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. MotsatR4N
Ex. A, ECF No. 27-1. The jury in the underlying state court action also specially founlaiiae

Merritt Motor Co. engaged in conduct with malice, oppression or fraud related to the causes ¢

* In previously moving to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint, Defiemdzived its §
533 argument by failing to raise it until its reply brief, and thus the Court did not prigvious
address the merits of this defense. The Court granted Defendant leave tthis@egument,

however, if Plaintiffs filed an amended complai®eeOrder at 7.
6
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action for intentional misrepresentation of fact, concealment, and unlawfutpricthe sale of
consumer goods. RJN Ex. A at 1-4.

The Court agrees with Defendant that Plaintiffs’ msiappear to be uninsurable under §
533, which bars coverage for frauiee St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Wein@06 F.2d 864,
870 (9th Cir. 1979)0akland-Alameda Cnty. Coliseum, Inc. v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of
Pittsburg, Pa. 480 F. Supp. 2d 1182, 1197 (N.D. Cal. 2007). The California Court of Appeal h
clarified that a “willful act” for purposes of § 533 exclusion is “an act deltbralone for the
express purpose of causing damage or intentionally performed with knowledge that damage
highly probable or substantially certain to resutshell Oil Co. v. Winterthur Swiss Ins. Cb2
Cal. App. 4th 715, 742 (1993). “Therefore, section 533 precludes indemnification for liability
arising from deliberate conduct that the insured expectedended to cause damaged. at 743
In light of the jury’s special verdict findings that Plaintiffs acted witlioe, oppression, or fraud
and specific intent to defraud th&ate court plaintifisDefendant has a strong argument that § 53

precluces Plaintiffs from seeking indemnification under the insurance policy.

Plaintiffs present two maiarguments why their claims are not barred by Insurance Code¢

533. First, they argue that “there are no conclusive findings against Rain¢i€ause thegettled
their claims with the state court plaintiffs. Opp’n at 22. This argument is uingyaits courts
have found coverage for willful acts precluded under § 533 even where the claimstiverteiy
settled. See Downey Venture v. LMI Ins. C86 Cal. App. 4th 478, 490 (1998). Plaintiffs cite
Gray v. Zurich Insurance C065 Cal. 2d 263 (1966), for the proposition that a verdict or finding
“are admissible but not conclusive as to whether the insured’s acts were unaasratientional
acts.” Opp’n at 22.Gray, howeveraddressed the relevance of a general verdict of “willfulness
for purposes of determining whether the conduct was a “willful” act for puspafs® 533
exclusion. 65 Cal. 2d at 277. Here, the jury specially found that ifkaadted with malice or
specific intent to defraud, and thus there iambiguity as tavhether their accused conduct was
“willful” as defined under § 533.

Plaintiffs’ second argument, however, raises a substantial complicatieféodant’s 8

533 defense. Plaintiffs assert an estoppel argument, arguing that Defendawalndert
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representation of Plaintiffs in the state court action without ever asséwingolverage would be
limited by § 533. Moreover, Plaintiffs argue that Defendant has alreadigedo$25,000 in
coverage, which essentially constitutes a concession that coverage is not p&rE&8pand that
Defendant should therefore be estopped from now taking the position that § 533 bars all of
Plaintiffs’ claims. Opp’n at 223.

Plaintiffs have raised at least a colorable estoppel argument. California courts have
“[found] no dictate in public policy that prevents an estoppel from imposing liability foundarpoi
intentional tort.” Tomerlin 61 Cal. 2d at 64Gee id.at 648-49. For instae, where an insurer
engages an attorney to defend an insured in a lawsuit and represents that the ihstfieadviull
coverage, and the insured, relying on such representation, withdraws his pereamay &tbm
participation in the lawsuit to his detriment, the insurer is estopped from latengldiaility
under the policy.ld. Here, Plaintiffs allege that, although the state court action was filed in
August 2007, and Defendant undertook legal representation of Plaintiffs in that actemddre
did not issue a “Reservation of Rights” letter to Plaintiffs until one year, lah August 28, 2008,
in which it finally pointed out the $25,000 coverage limitation under the endorsanttite fact
that willful conduct would not be covere@AC 21 & Ex. 4. In another letter dated September
29, 2008, Defendant admitted that “Our coverage letters are not exhaustive.” TAC § 28.& Ex
These allegations give rise to a plausible claim that Defendant failed to timetyerés rights,
causing Plaintiffs to rely detrimentally on Defendant’s legal defenserrdtan engaging their own
attorney. Accordingly, the Court does not find Defendant’s 8 533 defense amenable tmresoll
on a motion to dismiss. Defendant’s motion to dismiss all of Ffaintlaims as barred under
California Insurance Code § 533 is therefore denied.

B. Individual Causesof Action
1. Breach of Contract

To state a claim for breach of contract, a plaintiff must allébethe existence of a valid
contract;(2) performance by thelaintiff or excuse for nonperformand8) breach by the
defendant; and (4) damagdsarst CommerciaMortg. Co. v. ReeceB9 Cal. App. 4th 731, 745

(2001). The Court already previously denied Defendant’s motion to dish@dreach of contract
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claim, determiningthat Plaintiffs’ allegations, construed in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs
were sufficient to show that the cap provision is unenforceable. Order at 4. H$tawiting the
Court’s prior ruling, and without seeking leave to file a motion for reconsiderasaoagaired by
Civil Local Rule 79, Defendant again moves to dismiss this cause of action. Defendant argus
that a motion for reconsideration is unnecessary because Plaintiffs havedeapehanged and
re-cast their Breach of Contract” claim, such that the cause of action has been “radicagdthan
Mot. at 9. Defendant argues that Plaintiffsave failed to identify even one of the contractual
obligations . . . which was not performed by NHIQd:.

The Court is not persuad that it needs to revisit this issuks explained in the Court’s
previous @der,the facts as pled “establish[ed] a reasonable expectation that the GL policy
provided $1,000,000 in single occurrence coverage” and support a claim that “the cap piovisi
not ‘conspicuous, plain, and clear’ and is therefore unenforceaDlelér at 56. The substance of
Plaintiffs’ breach of contract claim is materially identical to the claim pleadedimS&éeond
Amended Complaint. While Plaintiffs have undoubtedly expanded their factual iallesgat
Defendant does not argue that Plaintiffs have pled themselves out of a clabefandant
advances no new arguments why Plaintiffs have failed to state a claisselmnce, Defendant asks
the Court to make a summgudgment determination on the merits of Plaintiffs’ breach of
contract claim.Accordingly, Defendant’s motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ first cause obads again
DENIED.

2. Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

Plaintiffs’ second cause aftion is breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing,
which is a covenant implied in all insurance contracts under CaliforniaSa&.Hansoex rel.
Hanson v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Ari83 F.2d 762, 766 (9th Cir. 1985). The implied covenant
good faith and fair dealingrevents a party from acting in bad faith to frustrate the contract’s ac
benefits. Guz v. Bechtel Nat'l Inc24 Cal. 4th 317, 353 n.18 (2000). A claim for breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing requires that: “(1) benefitartlex the policy
must have been withheld; and (2) the reason for withholding benefits must have been uneas

or without proper cause.Love v. Fire Ins. Exch221 Cal. App. 3d 1136, 1151 (1990). The mere
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denial of benefits does not demonstrate bad f&8ie Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Guy&$? F.2d

551, 557 (9th Cir. 1982) (where policy dispute involved a genuine legal issue concerning,liability

insurer could not have been acting in bad faith by refusing tolaimy)c Rather, “[tlhere must be
proof the insurer failed or refused to discharge its contractual duties not becandeogst
mistake, bad judgment, or negligence, ‘but rather by a conscious and deliberate dctnfaidy
frustrates the agreed corompurposes and disappoints the reasonable expectations of the othg
party thereby depriving that party of the benefits of the agreemederitury Sur. Co. v. Polisso
139 Cal. App. 4th 922, 949 (2006) (quoti@gateau Chamberay Homeowners Ass’'n v. Adstit
Ins. Co, 90 Cal. App. 4th 335, 346 (2001)).

In its previous Order, the Court dismissed Plaintiffs’ bad faith claim but grieage to
amend, in the event Plaintiffs could allege facts demonstrating that DefendeciSion to deny
coverage wamade or ratified by someone who knew that the $25,000 cap provision was
unenforceable SeeOrder at 8. Plaintiffs now assert three grounds for recovery under this caus
action. Plaintiffs allege that Defendant withheld benefits due under the inspioge and that
such withholding of benefits was unreasonable because Defendant: (1) knew that the $§5,00
was unenforceablegeTAC § 74; (2) refused to accept a reasonable settlement offer, knowing
the potential judgment was likely to excabd amount offeredee idff 7677; and (3) failed to
investigate the claim properlig. 1 81 For the reasons discussed belB¥ajntiffs have failed to
cure the pleading deficiencies previously identified, and although they add two reeghe
neither is adequately pled.

First, Plaintiffs have failed to cure the pleading deficiencies in their claim thah&®aaft
unreasonablynterpreted their policy language®laintiffs allege that Defendant acted in bad faith
by ratifying the $25,00@ap afterallegedly being informed that it was unenforceable, thus forcin
Plaintiffs to file this lawsuit. TAC {{ 8282. However, dspite alleging that Defendant was
“informed” on December 14, 2009, by Plaintiffs’ counsel of the cap’s unenforceabddyAC
30 & Ex. 9, Plaintiffs do not allege that Defendaatually knew or believethe cap was
unenforceable. Under the “genuine dispute doctrine,” “an insurer does not act in lbadéitit

mistakenly withholds policy benefits, if the mistake is reasonable or is basetkgitimate
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dispute as to the insurer’s liabilityCentury Sur. C9.139 Cal. App. 4th at 949. In an attempt to
support its allegation that Defendant in fact knew the cap to be unenforceaiblef$taly on
Defendant’s purported failure to respond to a request for admission. Specifilzafi$iff® rely on

the following deemed admissions:

4. YOU admit YOUR company was aware of California insurance law regarding
therequirements for properly [sic] state exclusions and limitatiomssurance
policieswhenit issued its policies to Plaintiff.

6. YOU admit YOUR $25,000 limitation in coverage did not comply with
California lawregarding the disclosure of exclusions and limitations from coverage.

TAC 159; see idf 78

Plaintiffs’ reliance on these purported “deemed admissions,” however, is misplaced.
Plaintiffs served these requests for admissions in state court, prior to remthalaaftion.
Defendant asserts that it did, in fact, properly respond to the admissimsti®jve days after the
parties’ Rule 26(fronference Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(d) provitlest “[a] party may
not seek discovery from any source before the parties have conferred as ey &rad 26(f).”
Many courts have found that, wha case is removed from state court to federal court, any pre

removal discovery requests are no longer effectSee, e.gVisicorp v. Software Arts, Inc575

F. Supp. 1528, 1531 (N.D. Cal. 1988khrogated on other grounds by Stewart Org. v. Ricoh Corp.

487 U.S. 22 (1988) (“Whether or not such discovery is lodged with the state court, it is ntera 1
which remains with any force or effect after removaRigy v. Walgreen Cp233 F.R.D. 496,
499 (S.D. Tex. 2005) (“Nothing in the language of [Rule 26] permits a party to continue to see
discovery which may have been properly served under state law rulesreal.”).
Accordingly, because Defendant did timely respond to the requests for mdnaiffer the parties’
Rule 26(f) conference, Plaiffs cannot rely on these putative deemed admissions to establish {
faith. Plaintiffs have alleged no other facts showing that Defendant knew the lwap t
unenforceable when denying coverage, and thus Plaintiffs have failed to curethegle
deficiencies of this theory previously identified by the Court.

Second, Plaintiffs allege thBfendant acted in bad faith by refusing to accept a

reasonable settlement offer that Defendant knew or should have known was less thamntia¢ po
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judgment amount. Under California lafff]he implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing
imposes a duty on the insurer to settle a claim against its insured within policy Ienever
there is a substantial likelihood of a recovery in excess of those lindib&isen v. Cal. State
Auto Ass’n Interins. Bureay 15 Cal. 3d 9, 14-15 (197%eeCrisci v.Sec.Ins. Co, 66 Cal. 2d
425, 430 (1967) (“duty to accept reasonable settlements” is implied in the covenant ditiood f
and fair dealing). “[R]ecovery may be based on unwarranted rejection of a reassettlbment
offer and . . . the absence of evidence, circumstantial or direct, showing actual disHoaes or
concealment is not fatal to the cause of actiddrisci, 66 Cal. 2d at 430Accordingly, “whenever
it is likely that the judgment against the insured will exceed policy limits ‘so that the most
reasonable manner of disposing of the claim is a settlement which can beithadéhose limits,
a consideration in good faith of the insured’s interegtiires the insurer to settle the claim.™
Johansenl15 Cal. 3d at 16 (quotir@omunale v. Traders & Gen. Ins. CB0 Cal. 2d 654, 659
(1958)). In determining whether to settle a claithe insurer fhust give at least as much

consideration to the welfa of its insured as it gives to its own interesibe governing standard is

whether a prudent insureould have accepted the settlement offer if it alone were to be liable for

the entire judgment.’Egan v. Mut. of Omaha Ins. C@4 Cal. 3d 809, 818 (1979). “Thus, the
only permissible consideration in evaluating the reasonableness of the exettbéi®r becomes
whether, in light of the victim’s injuries and the probable liability of the insubedultimate
judgment is likely to exceed the amountlod settlement offer.’ Johansen15 Cal. 3d at 16.
“Such factors as the limits imposed by the policy, a desire to reduce the ambuntef
settlements, or a belief that the policy does not provide coverage, should noa aééection as to
whetherthe settlement offer in question is a reasonable olke.”

Plaintiffs here allege that, despite rejecting a settlement off&1ftd,000 in June 2007, as
of November 5, 2007, Defendant itself estimated probable damages in the undergicgusta
action to be $65,000, excluding attorneys’ fees, and thus “early on [Defendant] well knew the
exposure could well exceed $100,000. TAC 11 19-20 & ERI&intiffs have not pled facts that
would support a finding of bad faith based on the duty to accephadascsettiements. According

to Plaintiffs’ own allegations, Defendant estimated liability to be $65,000u@ixg) an
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unspecified amount of attorneys’ fees, which could mean a total estimatétylefposure of

more or less than $110,000. Thus, even when construed in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs,

Plaintiffs’ allegations do not show that Defendangjection of the settlement offeas
unreasonable. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ second theory for breach of the impliedaavef good
faith andfair dealing cannot survive this motion to dismiss.

Third and finally,Plaintiffs assert that Defendant acted in bad faith by failinguestigate
Plaintiffs’ insurance coverage claim properly. “[A]n insurer may breach the covenant ofagibod
and far dealing when it fails tonpperly investigate its insuregitlaim.” Egan 24 Cal. 3d at 817.
“[T]he insurer is charged with constructive notice of facts that it might havedd if it had
pursued the requisite investigatiorKPFF, Inc. v.Cal. Union Ins. Co, 56 Cal. App. 4th 963, 973
(1997). A typical case regarding this cause of action will involve an insured who has a@enied
insured’sclaim without properly investigating the merits of the claigee, e.gShade Foods, Inc.
v. Innovative Products Sales & Mktg., In€8 Cal. App. 4th 847, 883 (200@al. Shoppers, Inc.

v. Royal Globe Ins. Cpl75 Cal. App. 3d 1, 37 (1985).

Here, Plaintiffs have not alleged that Defendant denied their claim withoutrlgrope
investigating it. Instead, Plaiffs asserthat Defendant “fail[ed] to investigate the validity of thei
own illegal $25,000 cap.” TA§81. Even construed in thight most favorable to Plaintiffs,
Plaintiffs’ allegations at most give rise to a dispute about the enforceability of the capgmovis
not a claim that Defendant unreasonably failed to investigate Plaintdfal ébr coverage under
the policy.

In sum, Plaintiffs have not adequately pled a cause of action for breach of thel implie
covenant of good faith and fair dealing under any of its three theories. Accypy@itaghtiffs’
second cause of action is DISMISSED. Plaintiffs have already been given atunjppoo cure
the deficiencies identified in the Cosrprevious Order, and they have failed to do so.
Accordingly, this cause of action is dismissed without leave to amend.

3. California Business and Professions Code § 17200
California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL")Business and Professions Code 88 100

seq, proscribes unfair competition, which includes “any unlawful, unfair or fraudbleihess act
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or practice.” “[T]he Legislature . . . intended by this sweeping languggertnait tribunals to
enjoin on-going wrongful business conduct in whatever context such activity maghit'o€el
TechCommc'n Inc. v.L.A. Cellular Tel. Co, 20 Cal. 4th 163, 181 (1999) (internal citations
omitted). “Because Business and Professions Code section 17200 is written iruthctidesjit
establishes threearieties of unfair competition acts or practices which are unlayfor unfair, or
fraudulent. In other words, a practice is prohibited as ‘unfair’ or ‘deceptive’ éwen ‘unlawful’

and vice versa.’ld. at 180 (internal citations omitted). Plaintifisserthat it wasunfair, unlawful,

and fraudulent for Defendant “to suggest and represent $1,000,000 in coverage in a declaratipns

page, and then to bury in small print in an endorsement purporting to extend coverage, a mof
cap of $25,000, particularly when it is common knowledge that most people do noteieadtihe
policy, and do greatly rely on the declarations pages.” TAC 1 84.

In its previous Order, the Court dismissed Plaintiffs’ UCL claim as barred Matadi-
Shalal v. Fireman’s Fund Insurance Compan#s Cal. 3d 287 (1988), aficgextron Financial
Corp. v. National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittshdrt8 Cal. App. 4th 1061 (2004).

Order at 12. As the Court previously explaingadradi-Shalalheld thathe Unfair Insurance

Practices Act (“UIPA”), Cal. Ins. Code, 8§ 780seq. which prohibits “unfair and deceptive acts or

practices in the business of insurance,” does not create a private cause ofSetfhCal. 3d at
304. Meanwhile,Textronheld that “parties cannot plead arowidradi—Shalals holding by
merely relabeling their causé action as one for unfair competition.” 118 Cal. App. 4th at 1070
UnderTextron where an insured’s unfair competition claim under Section 17200 is based on *
type of activities covered by the UIPA,” it is barredMgradi-Shalal Id (claims reléed to the
insurer’s use of misleading documents and misrepresentation of both the termsistfitiece
policies and its obligations under them were forecloseddradi-Shala); see also Safeco Ins. Co|
v. Superior Court216 Cal. App. 3d 1491, 1494 (Cal. Ct. App. 1990) (“We have no difficulty in
deciding the Business and Professions Code provides no toehold for scaling theblsiordi-
Shalal. . .. To permit plaintiff to maintain this action would rendiéoradi-Shalalmeaningless.”).
As this Court previously heldRlaintiffs’ allegations areovered by California Insurance

Code § 790.03(h)(1), which prohibits “knowingly . . . misrepresenting to claimants pertinemnt f
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or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at is#\ged reslt, Plaintiffs’ UCL
claims are “clearly premised on the kind of conduct covered by the UIPA,” and thusnable.
Order at 12. The Court granted Plaintiffs leave to amend in the event that i8laouifl plead a
UCL claim not based on conduct covered by the UIPA, but Plaintiffs have failed tthisure
defect. In their TAC, Plaintiffs argue that their common law fraud claimseliss their statutory
claim under Insurance Code § 785, independently support their UCL claim. However, what
Plaintiffsignore is thafl extrors preclusion bar is not limited tdCL claims expressly pled under
the UIPA, but rather applies toCL claims premised ofihe type of activities coverealy the
UIPA.” Textron 118 Cal. App. 4th at 1078ge Christensen v. Providdrfe & Accid. Ins. Caq.
No. C07-04789, 2008 WL 410238, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 12, 200@&x¢toris holding is not
limited to claims premised on allegatiomgpresslypled under the UIPA.”)Because Plaintiffs’ 8
785 and common law fraud claims arisenfrthe same allegations that Defendant knowingly
“misrepresent[ed] to claimants pertinent facts or insurance policy proviglasg to any
coverages at issue,” Cal. Ins. Code § 7990,03(h)(1), they cannot suppdrtcaihc
Accordingly, Plaintiffs’third cause of action for violation of California’s UCLI8SMISSED
Plaintiffs have already been given an opportunity to cure the deficiencregietkin the Court’s
previous Order and have failed to do so. Furthermore, because Plaintiff’'s UCLsuffmn from
a legal rather than factual deficiency, amendment would be futile. Accordiigintiffs’ UCL
cause of action idismissed without leave to amend.
4. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

Plaintiffs’ fourth cause of action asserts intentional infliction of emotional dsstkénder
certain circumstances, an insurance carrier's conduct in handling a clainesuntiyn liability for
intentional infliction of emotional distres$iailey v.Cal. PhysiciansServ, 158 Cal. App. 4th
452, 473-74 (2007) (internal citations omitted). To statkaian for intentional infliction of
emotional distress, the plaintiff must alle¢fl) extreme and outrageous conduct by the defenda
with the intention of causing, or reckless disregard of the prinlyadfi causing, emotional distress;
(2) the plaintiff's suffering severe or extreme emotional distress; (3 &ndl and proximate

causation of the emotional distress by the defendant’s outrageous conducllie conduct
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alleged must “go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and be regarded as atrociouslyand
intolerable in a civilized community.Coleman v. Repub. Indem. Ins. CI82 Cal. App. 4th 403,
416 (2005). Behavior may be considered outrageous if a defe(aaibuses a relain or

position which gives him power to damage the plaintiff's interest; (2) knows thefplainti
susceptible to injuries through mental distress; or (3) acts intentionalfyeasonably with the
recognition that the acts are likely to result in ilm&@srough memat distress.Hailey, 158 Cal.

App. 4th at 474.

In the insurance context, courts have rejected liability where the insugdy sielayed or
denied insurance benefitSpleman 132 Cal.App.4th at 41Tefused to accept a settlement
demand wthin policy limits, Isaacson v. Cal. Ins. Guarantéss’n 44 Cal. 3d 775, 788-89 (1988);
or failed to investigate a ¢ta and accused the insured of “trying to put something over on’” the
insurer,Ricard v.Pac.Indem.Co, 132 Cal. App. 3d 886, 889, 895 (1982). On the other hand,
insurers have been held liable for intentional infliction of emotional distressagtiéenpting to
induce an insured to surrender his policy by sending false and threateningfé&ttehgr v.W.

Nat'l Life Ins. Co.10Cal. App. 3d 376 (1970 frivolously delaying disability payments despite
knowledge of the insured’s “fragile emotional conditiodgrnandez v. Gen. Adjustment Burgau
199 Cal. App. 3d 999 (1988); or by rescinding coverage without good cause afteigldiaahizn
insured has suffered an accidehiailey, 158 Cal. App. 4th at 474.

Plaintiffs allege two separate grounds for recovery, both of which were previousl
dismissed without prejudicerirst, Plaintiffs assethat Defendant “acted intentionaiyd/or
recklessly” in creatings policy, that Defendant “knew a large number of insureds would be
deceived,” by the “burying” of the cap, and that Defendant “knew or should have knpsusica
sales tactic would bound [sic] to shatter the promisedcp of mind’ that normally flows from
acquiring insurance. TAC §89. Second, Plaintiffs assdhat Defendant “intentionally and/or
recklessly harmed andrgetedWayne and Peggy” by forcing them “to endure the stress of bein
sued, litigation, and undergo a jury trial . . . which exposed their life savings to dezngaiaay,”
and further that Defendant “knew Wayne had gone into the hospital for stress froml thd AC

1 91.
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Both theories were previously determined to be insufficiently pledP&ndtiffs have
failed to cure the deficiencies in their TAC. As observed in the Court’s previaes, @here an
insurer has been held liable for the infliction of emotional distress, courts havalhywéound it
relevant that the responsible partiegl knowledge of a specific plaintiff's vulnerabilitieSee
Fletcher, 10 Cal. App. 3d 376 (conduct occurred after claims adjuster learned that plaintiff hag
become disabledHernandez199 Cal. App. 3d at 1007 (claims adjusters knew of plaintiff's
suscetibility to mental distress and repeated attempts at sui¢iddpy, 158 Cal. App. 4th at 474
(“Blue Shield knew about Steve’s car accident, severe physical injdisadility, and liability for
mounting medical bills. Given these circumstances, Bhield knew it would cause plaintiffs to
suffer emotional distress if it rescinded Steve’s health care coveragerg, as before, Plaintiffs
have not alleged that Defendant posseasgtspecial knowledge abbany specific vulnerabilities
of Plaintiffs when designing Plaintiffs’ policy. Rath&Haintiffs continue tallegeonly that
Defendant should have known that the limitation would cause distress not only tdf®lairtti
also to “a large number of insureds.” TAC 1 89. These allegations are insufficgmpiptort a
claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress.

Plaintiff's secondheory as pled is deficient as welAn insurer who undertakes the
defense of an insured may decide whether or not to settle a claim, so long asstbe ecot
unreasonableSee Risely v. Interinsurance Exch. of Auto. CL#3 Cal. App. 4th 196, 208 (2010)
Here, as before, Plaintiffs have not alleged that Defendant’s decision tahejsettlement offer
was undertaken in bad faith or without Ptdfa’ best interests in mind. Insted@laintiff alleges
that Defendant “[knew] that the $25,000 cap was illegal” and “knew Wayne had gone into the
hospital for stress from the trial.” TA{L91. Defendant’s purportedimissiorof the alleged
illegality of the cap has already been addresdEe and rejected as a basis for Plaintiffs’ claims
As for Defendant’s knowledge of Mr. Merritt's hospitalization, there is nothing to suthygor
inference, from this knowledge alone, that Defendant’s decision to neverthelesaearith
litigation was unreasonable or intended to cause Plaingiffigitional distress.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ allegations fall short of stating a plausible claim frmitional

infliction of emotional distress. Plaintiffs’ fourttause of action is therefore likewise
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DISMISSED  The Court finds that amendment would be futile becRlesatiffs have failecto
cure the deficiencies identified in the Court’s previous Order on this caastiari Accordingly,
this cause of action is dismissed without leave to amend.
5. Fraud

Plaintiffs’ fifth cause of action for fraud in fact comprises four sepa@t@ts for: (1)
intentional misrepresentation; (2) concealment; (3) promise without intentionfofrperg; and
(4) negligent misrepresttion. With the exception, of negligent misrepresentation, all of these
counts are species of frauB8eeCal. Civ. Code § 3294(c)(3) (defining “fraud” as “an intentional
misrepresentation, deceit, or concealment of a material fact known to the defeitiol&imé
intention on the part of the defendant of thereby depriving a person of property ordbtgbri
otherwise causing injury”see also Starnet Int'l AMC Inc. v. Kafa€l9-CV-04301-LHK, 2011
WL 31269, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 5, 2011) (“Intentibnasrepresentation is a claim for fraud.”);
Baggett v. HewletPackard Ca.582 F. Supp. 2d 1261, 1267 (C.D. Cal. 2007) (noting that the

misrepresentation element of a fraud claim may be proved by showing condgalazesr v.

Superior Court12 Cal. 4th 631, 638 (1996) (“Promissory fraud’ is a subspecies of the action for

fraud and deceit.”)Under California law, the indispensable elements of fraud are: “(1) a
misrepresentation (false representation, concealment, or nondisclosure); (Bdgeoof fasity
(or scienter); (3) intent to defraud, i.e., to induce reliance; (4) justifiabénce; and (5) resulting
damage.”Robinson Helicopter Co. v. Dana Corf4 Cal. 4th 979, 990 (2004) (citihgzar, 12
Cal. 4th at 638).

Negligent misrepresentation requires a similar showiittp, the exception that the
defendant need not actually know the representation is false. Instead, to pleahheglig
misrepresentation, it is sufficient to allege that the defendant lackeshedde grounds for
believing the representation to be tri&eeNat’l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, PA v.
Cambridge Integrated Servs. Grp., Int71 Cal. App. 4th 35, 50 (200@)entifying the elements
of negligent misrepresentation as: “(1) the misrepresentation of a passtimgrnaterial factf[;]
(2) without reasonable ground for believing it to be true[;] (3) with intent to inchather’s

reliance on the fact misrepresent¢d4) justifiable reliance on the misrepresentation[;] and (5)
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resulting damage’’jquotingApollo Cap. Fund LLC v. Roth Cap. Partners, LG8 Cal. App.

4th 226, 243 (2007)). Although negligent misrepresentation is not squarely a claim sounding |i

fraud, California courts are in “consensus thatcausal elements, particularly the allegations of
reliance, must be specifically pleadedd. (quoting, e.g.Small v. Fritz Companies, In@0 Cal.
4th 167, 184 (2003)Cadlo v. Owens-lllinois, Inc125 Cal. App. 4th 513, 519 (2004)).

Claims sounding in fraud or mistake are subject to the heightened pleading regtsrem
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b), which requires that a plaintiff alldgag “must state with
particularity the circumstances constituting fraufted. R. Civ. P. 9(bsee Kearns v. Ford Motor
Co, 567 F.3d 1120, 1125 (9th Cir. 2009). Courts in the Ninth Circuit have held that claims fof
both fraud and negligent misrepresentation are subject to RuleS4b)Meridian Project Sys.,
Inc. v. Hardin Const. Co., LLGI04 F. Supp. 2d 1214, 1219 (E.D. Cal. 200&lson v. Union
Bank of Cal., N.A.290 F. Supp. 2d 1101, 1141 (C.D. Cal. 20@3g&nn Holly Entm't, Inc. v.
Tektronix, Inc,. 100 F. Supp. 2d 1086, 1093 (C.D. Cal. 1998).satisfythe heightened standard
under Rule 9(b), the allegations must be “specific enough tadgifemdants notice of the
particular misconduct which is alleged to constitute the fraud charged so theathégfend
against the charge and not just deny that they have done anything wEamegen v. Weidner
780 F.2d 727, 731 (9th Cir. 198%ccord Vess v. Cibaeigy Corp. USA317 F.3d 1097, 1105
(9th Cir. 2003). Thus, claims sounding in fraud must allege “an account of the time apldce
specific content of the false representations as well as the identities of teg {oatthie
misrepresentans.” Swartz v. KPMG LLP476 F.3d 756, 764 (9th Cir. 2007)he plaintiff must
set forth what is false or misleading about a statement, and why it is fRlseker v. Glenfed, Inc.
(In re Glenfed, Inc. Sec. Litig42 F.3d 1541, 1548 (9th Cir. 1994

The Court previously dismissed Plaintiffs’ fraud claims without prejudice upomuateg
that Plaintiffs failed to plead reliance and damages with particularity. @rd&. The Court
previously held that Plaintiffs had not alleged any actioartak reliance on Defendant’s alleged
misrepresentations, nor had they shown that they suffered any damages Hpetifc®

Defendant’s alleged fraud rather than its alleged breach of conlact.
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Plaintiffs’ allegations here are no different. Apart from bare, conclussgrtams that
they “reasonably relied” on the representation that the policy afforded $1,000,@0@rage,
Plaintiffs’ only specific allegation of reliance is that they “reastyeelied” on Defendant’s
misrepresentations ifjpurchasing] and [keeping] the insurance.” TAC { 116. However, as thd
Court previously explained, “Plaintiffs must explain why discovering the capgovat the time
of the state court action caused harm beyond simply depriving them of a benefit owettheinde
contract.” Order at 18That is, because reliance and damages are essential elements of all fra
claims, Plaintiffs must allege facts showing that they suffered damagécsfig@s a result of
Defendant’s alleged fraud, rather than merely as a result of Defendasgsdalireach of contract.
Plaintiffs havenot done so in their Third Amended Complaint. As before, the only damages
alleged are those that resulted from Defendant’s purported failure to fulfidintsactual

obligations to Ruintiffs. Plaintiffs have failed to cure the deficiencies identified in the Court’s

\ud

previous Order on this cause of action, and thus, the Court finds that further amendment would be

futile. Accordingly,Plaintiffs’ fifth cause of action for fraud is DMESSEDwithout leave to
amend.
6. Reformation

Plaintiffs’ sixth cause of action is for reformation. To state a claim formefoon under
California law, a plaintiff must plead that “by reason of fraud practiceohleyof the parties, or of
the mutual mistiee of the parties or of a mistake of one of them, which the other at the time kn{
or suspected, there were omitted from the instrument certain materialaedhtonditions. In
other words, that the language of the writing failed, for some reason, to expressrtternrdf the
parties.” Philips Med. Capital, LLC v. Med. Insights Diagnostics Ctr.,,I4Z1 F. Supp. 2d 1035,
1046-47 (N.D. Cal. 2007) (quotirRascoe v. Morrisor219 Cal. 54, 56 (1933)Plaintiffs allege
that they weréfraudulently andmistakenly led to believe by [Defendant’s] Declarations page ar
premiums paid that there was $1,000,000 in liability coverage for ‘prodlated damage,and
that Defendant knew or had reason to know of this fraud or mistake. TAC {1 127-28.

In previausly dismissing this claim without prejudicbetQurt notedhat Plaintiffs had

failed to state a claim for fraud, had not alleged mutual mistake, and had not tdexiifacient to
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justify reformation on the basis of unilateral mistake. Oadé&®. Plaintiffs have failed taure
these pleading deficiencieé\s explained abov®laintiffs have again failed to state a claim for
fraud, have again made no allegations of mutual mistake, and have again insufficiehtly ple
unilateral mistake To be granted reformation based on unilateral mistake, a plaintiff must shoy
that he “made a mistake at the time of the time of contracting, and that the mistakewado
or suspected by defendantsSpiegler v. Home Depot U.S.A., 852 F. Supp. 2d 1036, 1055
(C.D. Cal. 2008). The Court previously found that “[c]onstructive notice of the unilatestalkeai
of the other party is not a sufficient ground for reformatio@rterat 19. Here, Plaintiffs have
failed to allege any actual knowledge or@amn onthe part of Defendantinstead, they claim,
only in conclusory statements, that Defendant “knew or suspected of the abovieedefsarid
and/or mistake,” and suggest that this may be inferred by the way in which Défenda
“highlighted” the $1,000,000 in coverage and “buried” the cap. TAC { AR8est, this
allegation demonstrate®nstructive notice, not actual knowledge or suspicion. The Court finds
that further amendment would be futile because Plaintiffs failed to cureficeedcies identified
in the Court’s previous Order on this cause of actidacordingly, Plaintiffs’ reformation cause of
action isDISMISSEDwithout leave to amend.
7. Violation of Californialnsurance Code § 785

California Insurance Code 8§ 785 states that “[a]ll insurers, brokers, agentsharsd ot
engaged in the transaction of insurance owe a prospective insured who is 65 ggarsraslder, a
duty of honesty, good faith, and fair deglih Plaintiffs properly alleg¢hat Mr. Merritt was over
65 years old at theme ofinsurance purchaseHowever, as noted above, Plaintiffs have failed to
state gplausible cause of action for Defendant’s breach of its duty of good faith anddfaigde
Because the Coudismissed Plaintiffssecond cause of action with prejudice, the Court also
DISMISSESPIaintiff's seventh cause of action with prejudice.

C. Peggy Merritt

Defendant moves to dismiss all causes of action in relation to Plaintiff Peggit Biethe

ground that Mrs. Merritt is not a named insured under the GL policy, and the endurbemns

coverage for product-related liability to only named insureds. Mot. aD&fendant argues that,
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because Mrs. Merritt is not a named insured under the contract, she cannot suedesdama
resulting from the insurer’s withholding pblicy benefits.See Austero v. Nat'| Cas. C62 Cal.
App. 3d 511, 515-16 (1976) (spouse of insured who was not herself a party to the contract or
express beneficiary could not state a cause of action against insurer fordfraatuty, express or
implied, arising from the contractual relationship).

Plaintiffs do not dispute that Mrs. Merritt is not a named insured, nor do they dispute th
legal proposition that one who is neither a named insured nor an express beneficiargssamat
breach ofcontract claim against the insurer. Instead, Plaintiffs make three emtgjransupported
by law or fact, all of which are unavailing. First, Plaintiffs asget Defendant admitted Mrs.
Merritt is a named insuredut they do so without explanatios tmwhere or low Defendant
admitted as such. To the ext@&taintiffs relyon the aforementioned requestsddmissionthe
Court has already addressed and rejected this argument as the basis faisPt&@antis Second,
Plaintiffs argue that, to the extent the limitation excluding Mrs. Merritt from coeeasatpuried in
an Endorsement” just a few lines from the disputed cap provision at issue, the same
unenforceability arguments made with respect to the cap provision apply equiadyitoitation
of spousal coverage. Opp’n at 24. While this argument perhaps has some logical egpgts Pl
have not alleged that Mrs. Merritt ijmamed insured undéme insurance contract or an express
beneficiary thereof. Thus, it is not clear from the face of the TAC or the ¢dotsmattached
thereto how the endorsement in reality limits Mrs. Merritt's coverage athitd, Plaintiffs argue
that “it is unconscionable to cut out spousal coverage in an Endorsement purporting to exteng
coverage,’ld. (emphass omitted) but they provide absolutely no argument, let alone legal
authority, for why such a policy would be unconscionable.

Accordingly, because Plaintiffs have not alleged that Mrs. Merritt is @dansured under
the insurance contract or an exprieeseficiary thereof, and the Declarations pages on which
Plaintiffs rely clearly identify only “RV’s of Merritt; Wayne Merritt MotordC Inc.; [and] Wayne
Merritt” as named insured, Mrs. Merritt cannot sue Defendant for claisia@from the alleged
breach. See Auster®2 Cal. App. 3d at 5156. Mrs. Merritt’s claims are therefore DISMISSED.

However, because Defendant did not previously move to dismiss Mrs. Merrittrs cRllaintiffs
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were not on notice of any defect that needed curing. Accordingly, Plaingftganted leave to
amend solely with respect to Mrs. Merritt’s breach of contract claim.
D. Punitive Damages

Defendant moves to dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims for punitive damabesler California law,
punitive damages may be appropriate “where it is proven by clear and convincingceiok the
defendant has been guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice.” Cal. Civ. Code 8§ 3294. Punitive
damages may be appropriate where an insurer commits fraud or breaches thet cd\goal
faith and fair dealingSee, e.gEgan 24 Cal. 3d at 817 (allowing a punitive damages award
against an insurer that acted in bad fagifailing to properly investigate its insured’s claim).
However, punitive damages may not be awarded for breach of cor@iicaf Hope Nat’'| Med.
Ctr. v. Genentech, Inc43 Cal. 4th 375, 392 (2008).

Because the Court dismisses with prejudice all of Plaintiffs’ claims exceghboéa
contract, punitive damages are unavailable here. Accordingly, Plainliisi tor punitive
damages is DISMISSED with prejudice.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant’s motion is DENIED with respdu tr¢ach of
contract claim, but GRANTED with prejudice with respect to Plaintiffsises of action for breach
of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unfair business practicespmént
infliction of emotional distress, fraud, reformation, violation of Californiaitasce Code 8§ 895,
and punitive damages. Defendant’s motion to dismiss Mrs. Merritt’s claims iNGRB with
leave to amend. Should Plaintiffs wish to file a Fourth Amended Complaint, they must do so
within 21 days of the date of this Order. Plaintiffs may not add new claims or partiesitwit
seeking Defendant’s consent or leave of the Court pursuant to Federal Ruld Bf&igdure 15.

IT ISSO ORDERED.

Dated:July 26, 2012

United States District Judge

23
CaseNo.: 11:-CV-01762LHK
ORDERGRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART MOTION TO DISMISS




	UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
	NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
	SAN JOSE DIVISION

